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The Directors present their report together with the financial report of Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific 

Pty Ltd (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the auditor’s report thereon. 

Directors 

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Mr. Ruediger Schrage (CFO) Director since 2013  

Mr. Horst von Sanden (CEO) Director since 2013 

Mr. Daniel Whitehead Director since 2015 

Ms. Diane Tarr Director since 2015 

Dr. Till Henrik Conrad Resigned 30 September 2016 

Mr. Richard Howard Resigned 30 September 2016 

Dr. Bernd Niess Resigned 30 September 2016 

 

Officers who were previously partners of the audit firm 

There were no officers of the Company during the financial year who were previously partners of the 

current audit firm, KPMG, at a time when KPMG undertook an audit of the Company. 

Principal activities 

The principal activities of the Company during the course of the financial year were the importation, 

marketing and distribution of passenger and commercial motor vehicles and their component parts. 

The Company is also involved in financing activities for its working capital management and on behalf of 

itself and some other related parties of the local Daimler group. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s activities during the year. 

Operating and financial review  

The Company made a profit, after income tax, from continuing operations for the year ended 31 

December 2016 of $103.038 million (2015: $216.964 million).   

Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared by the Company to members since the end of the previous financial 

year (2015: Nil). 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company 

that occurred during the financial year under review. 

Environmental regulation 

The Company’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either 

Commonwealth or State legislation. However, the Board believes that the Company has adequate 

systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of 

those environmental requirements as they apply to the Company.
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Events subsequent to reporting date  

Subsequent to 31 December 2016, the Company initiated the process of divesting its retail operation 

Mercedes-Benz Melbourne.  No sales agreement is currently in place and therefore, the Company cannot 

reasonably estimate the financial effect, however the sale is likely to have a significant effect on the 

entity’s financial performance in 2017. 

On 3 March 2017, the ultimate parent entity Daimler AG (DAG) announced a recall of passenger car 

models affecting C-Class, E-Class, CLA, GLA and GLC vehicles produced between 2015 and 2017 for the 

US market. The recall was a result of instances of engine fires and is expected to affect 1 million vehicles. 

The Company has not commenced a recall in the Australian market at the date of signing the annual 

financial report.  

Likely developments 

Operations 

The Company will continue to pursue its policy of increasing its key market share as well as maintaining 

its contribution to the Daimler global organisation. 

The Company’s financing activities for other related parties of the local Daimler group are expected to 

continue depending on the requirements of these related parties. 

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors  

Indemnification 

The Company has agreed to indemnify all directors and officers of the Company against all liabilities to 

another person (other than the Company or a related party) that may arise from their positions as 

directors or officers of the Company, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a liability 

owed to the Company or a Related Body Corporate, a liability for a pecuniary penalty order under section 

1317G, a compensation order under section 1317H of the Law, or a lack of good faith. The agreement 

stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including all costs and 

expenses as permitted by law.   

The Company has not indemnified or made any agreements to indemnify any person for a liability who is 

or has been an auditor of the Company. 

Insurance premiums 

For the period 1 April 2016 to 1 April 2017, the Company has paid insurance premiums of $3,653 in 

respect of directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses insurance. This insurance will be renewed in 

April 2017 to provide coverage for the remainder of the year ending 31 December 2017.  

The insurance contracts insure against certain liability (subject to specific exclusions) persons who are or 

have been directors or executive officers of the Company. 

Lead auditor’s independence declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 9 and forms part of the directors’ report 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the members of Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd 

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd 
(the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Company’s financial position as at 31 
December 2016 and of its financial 
performance for the year ended on 
that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

The Financial Report comprises:  

• Statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2016; 

• Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, Statement of changes in equity, and 
Statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies; and 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in 
Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
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Key Audit Matters 

The Key Audit Matters we identified are: 

• Completeness of the provision for 
warranty claims; and  

• Valuation of heavy commercial vehicle 
inventory. 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the Financial Report of the current period.  

These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 
 

Completeness of the provision for warranty claims ($119.3m- Note 21)  

Refer to Note 21 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The completeness of the provision for warranty 
claims is a key audit matter due to the: 

• significance of the balance to the financial 
statements of the Company; and 

• challenges in auditing a forward-looking 
estimate, designed to predict patterns of 
claimable events.  This is significantly more 
complex for recently released vehicles 
which have technologically advanced 
features for which there is little to no 
precedent of claimable events.  The 
Company’s provision for warranty claims 
incorporates estimates of claims relating to 
vehicles sold with recently introduced, or 
heavily upgraded technologies such as 
semi-autonomous driving capability and 
hybrid propulsion.  

Senior members of the audit team focused on 
the key factors driving management’s estimate 
of the provision for warranty claims. 
 

Our procedures included: 

• Involving our IT specialists and evaluating IT 
and manual controls relating to the 
determination of the provision for warranty 
claims.  Controls tested include: 

 review and approval of warranty claims by 
management; 

 information technology interface 
reconciliation between the warranty 
claims system and the Company’s 
financial reporting system; and 

 review and approval of provision model 
computation by management. 

• We checked the population of vehicles 
included in the provision model to details of 
vehicle sales maintained by the Company; 

• We inspected internal reporting prepared by 
management and the head office in Germany, 
regarding known defects in particular models 
and compared to the Company’s provision 
model; 

• We checked the mathematical accuracy of 
management’s warranty provision model;  

• We assessed the accuracy of the Company’s 
previous provision for warranty claims by 
comparing the prior year provision against 
actual claims settled during the current 
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period, to inform our evaluation of the current 
period estimate; and 

• Through the inspection of the Company’s 
minutes of board meetings, documentation 
prepared by the warranty management team, 
and meetings and inquiries with senior 
management, we assessed the factors the 
Company considered when determining the 
provision for warranty claims for new vehicle 
models. Key factors considered included 
claims experience since the vehicle has been 
on the market in Australia and other 
countries, and claims experience from other 
models with comparable specification and 
equipment. We checked for existence and 
consistency of these factors in the provision 
for warranty claims.  

 

Valuation of heavy commercial vehicle inventory (included within Inventory of $877.4m)  

Refer to Note 13 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The valuation of heavy commercial vehicle 
inventory is a key audit matter due to the 
greater risk of material misstatement to the 
financial statements.  This is a result of 
weakness in the market for heavy vehicles 
which has prevailed throughout the current 
year, driving price reductions by the 
manufacturers that participate in this market 
segment.  In this regard, the Company offered 
incentives and discounted pricing for these 
vehicle types during the year.  The reduction in 
margin associated with these initiatives 
increased the risk that inventory held at year 
end cannot be recovered at its cost price, as 
recorded in the financial statements.  Given this 
risk, the valuation of heavy commercial vehicle 
inventory was a focus of our audit. 
 

Our procedures included: 

• For a statistical sample of heavy commercial 
vehicles we compared recent sales prices 
(post discounts and other incentives) of heavy 
commercial vehicles, with similar 
specifications to carrying values of equivalent 
heavy commercial vehicles held in inventory at 
year-end, for indicators of inventory that 
cannot be recovered at its cost price; 

• Compared the actual sales price of a statistical 
sample of heavy commercial vehicles sold 
after year end to the Company’s previously 
estimated sales price. This comparison was 
used by us to evaluate the Company’s 
forecast sales prices and their relevance to on-
hand inventory values; 

• To evaluate the Company’s ability to 
accurately forecast sales prices, we further 
compared a statistical sample of the actual 
sales prices of heavy commercial vehicles 
against the Company’s previously forecast 
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sales prices for heavy commercial vehicles 
subsequently sold in the current year; and 

• For heavy commercial vehicles in inventory for 
over 12 months we investigated the sales 
opportunities for these vehicles, including 
consideration of current and pending sales 
contracts, tenders and fleet renewals together 
with the likely sales price that could be 
achieved based on the procedures performed 
above.  We compared the likely sales price to 
the carrying value to identify heavy 
commercial vehicle inventory that cannot be 
recovered at its cost price.  

 

Other information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty 
Ltd’s annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor's Report. 
The Directors are responsible for the Other Information.  

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we will 
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with 
the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 
 
We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives 
a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

• assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. This includes disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar1.pdf. 
This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report. 
 

 

 

 

 

KPMG James Dent 

 Partner 

 Melbourne 

 28 April 2017 
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

  

  

  

KPMG James Dent 

 Partner 

 Melbourne 

 28 April 2017 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

 Note 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 11 70,886 46,127 

Trade and other receivables 12 2,401,181 2,206,184 

Inventories   13 877,387 822,688 

Derivative financial instruments 18 1,171 1,025 

Total current assets  3,350,625 3,076,024 

    
Non-current assets    

Trade and other receivables 12 1,570,238 1,189,971 

Deferred tax assets 15 73,045 59,747 

Property, plant and equipment 14 126,225 124,273 

Derivative financial instruments 18 2,855 773 

Total non-current assets  1,772,363 1,374,764 

    
Total assets  5,122,988 4,450,788 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 647,040 603,774 

Loans and borrowings 17 1,820,686 1,568,080 

Derivative financial instruments 18 703 5,923 

Employee benefits 20 16,824 16,796 

Provisions 21 146,623 146,098 

Deferred income 22 29,043 22,676 

Total current liabilities  2,660,919 2,363,347 

    
Non-current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 6,599 11,942 

Loans and borrowings 17 1,452,831 1,171,980 

Derivative financial instruments 18 2,853 773 

Employee benefits 20 1,698 2,693 

Provisions 21 66,500 74,624 

Deferred income 22 25,160 22,151 

Total non-current liabilities  1,555,641 1,284,163 

    
Total liabilities  4,216,560 3,647,510 

    

Net assets  906,428 803,278 

    

Equity    

Share capital 23 70,000 70,000 

Reserves  (25) (137) 

Retained earnings  836,453 733,415 

     
Total equity  906,428 803,278 

    

 

 

 

The notes on pages 15 to 67 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

  

Note 

 

2016 

 

2015 

  $’000 $’000 

    

Revenue   3,631,637 3,238,626 

Cost of sales  7a (3,252,607) (2,824,506) 

Gross profit  379,030 414,120 

    

Other income  5 19,587 129,801 

    

Employee expenses 6 (92,776) (104,250) 

Depreciation expenses 14 (19,811) (12,381) 

Impairment losses 7b (7,361) (9,330) 

Other  7c (125,846) (111,952) 

Results from operating activities  152,823 306,008 

    

Finance income 9 106,838 119,539 

Finance costs 9 (109,792) (116,547) 

Net finance costs  9 (2,954) 2,992 

    

Profit before income tax  149,869 309,000 

    

Income tax expense 10 (46,831) (92,036) 

    

Profit for the period  103,038 216,964 

    

Other comprehensive income/(loss)    

    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss: 

   

Cash flow hedges – reclassified to profit or loss  137 2,595 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 

hedges  

9 (35) 714 

Tax on items that may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss 10 10 (214) 

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss  112 3,095 

    

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:    

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains  - 317 

Tax on items that will not be reclassified to profit or 

loss 10 - (95) 

Total items that will not be reclassified to profit 

or loss  - 222 

    

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the 

period, net of tax  112 3,317 

Total comprehensive income for the year  103,150 220,281 

    

 

 

The notes on pages 15 to 67 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

The notes on pages 15 to 67 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

Share  

capital 

Hedging 

reserve  

Share  

reserve 

Retained 

earnings Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at 1 January 2015 70,000 (3,232) - 516,229 582,997  

Profit for the period - - - 216,964 216,964  

Other comprehensive income      

Cash flow hedges – reclassified to profit or loss - 2,595 - - 2,595 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow       - 500 - - 500 

hedges, net of income tax      

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains, net of tax - - - 222 222 

        Total other comprehensive income/(loss) - 3,095 - 222 3,317 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period - 3,095 - 217,186 220,281 

Balance at 31 December 2015 70,000 (137) - 733,415 803,278 

Balance at 1 January 2016 70,000 (137) - 733,415 803,278 

Profit for the period - - - 103,038 103,038 

Other comprehensive income      

        Cash flow hedges – reclassified to profit or loss - 137 - - 137 

 Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 

hedges, net of income tax  - (25) - - (25) 

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains, net of tax - - - - - 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) - 112 - - 112 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period - 112 - 103,038 103,150 

Balance at 31 December 2016 70,000 (25) - 836,453 906,428 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

  2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities    

Cash receipts from customers  3,993,416 3,616,399 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (3,848,321) (3,375,491) 

Cash generated from operations  145,095 240,908 

Interest received  111,351 132,169 

Interest paid  (123,903) (118,504) 

Income taxes paid   (79,022) (57,697) 

Net cash from operating activities   53,521 196,876 

    

Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities    

Payment for acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment  (12,828) (3,989) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  3,012 53,327 

Proceeds from sale of investments  2,754 108,581 

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities  (7,062) 157,919 

    

    

Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings  9,287,764 5,280,005 

Repayment of borrowings  (8,804,599) (4,724,249) 

Proceeds from borrowings from ultimate  

parent entity  712,307 136,767 

Repayment of borrowings from ultimate  

parent entity  (661,926) (142,022) 

Proceeds from borrowings from other  

related entities  960,000 2,822,521 

Repayment of borrowings from other related entities  (960,000) (3,459,879) 

Loans to other related entities  (11,184,033) (8,579,928) 

Loans repaid by other related entities  10,628,787 8,320,370 

Net cash used in financing activities  (21,700) (346,415) 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 24,759 8,380 

    

    

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   46,127 37,747 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December   70,886 46,127 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 15 to 67 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. REPORTING ENTITY 

Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd (“the Company”) is a for-profit company domiciled in 

Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Lexia Place, Mulgrave, Victoria 3170.   

The Company is primarily involved in the importation, marketing and distribution of passenger and 

commercial motor vehicles and their component parts.   

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared 

in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.  The financial 

statements of the Company comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 April 

2017. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the 

following material items in the statement of financial position: 

 derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value; 

 liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements are measured at fair value; 

and 

 the defined benefit asset/liability is measured as the net total of the plan assets, plus 

unrecognised past service cost, less the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 

The methods used to measure fair value are discussed further in Note 4. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.  

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the Company’s 

functional currency.  

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/ Directors’ 

Reports) Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance with that, all financial information 

presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise 

stated. 
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2.       BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 

policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results 

may differ from these estimates.  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the 

following notes: 

 Note 15 – tax assets and liabilities 

 Notes 17, 18 and 19 – valuation of financial instruments 

 Note 20 – measurement of defined benefit obligations 

 Note 21 – provisions 

 Note 26 -  lease classification 

 Note 27 - contingencies 

3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 

in these financial statements. 

(a) Foreign currencies 

Transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Company’s functional currency at the 

foreign exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to Australian dollars 

at the foreign exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items 

is the difference between amortised cost in functional currency at the beginning of the 

period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised 

cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-

monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  

Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss except 

for qualifying cash flow hedges which are recognised directly in other comprehensive income 

to the extent the hedge is effective. 

(b) Financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial assets 

The Company initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they 

are originated. All other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through 

profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Company becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(b)   Financial instruments (continued) 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the 

financial asset in a transaction in which, substantially, all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is 

created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability.  

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts 

and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 

Non-derivative financial assets comprise loans and receivables. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market.  Such assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 

attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.   

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables. 

Loans and receivables due within 12 months are classified as current. All other loans and 

receivables are classified as non-current. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and call deposits maturing in less than 3 months.  

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Company initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the 

date that they are originated.  All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at 

fair value through profit or loss) are initially recognised on the trade date at which the 

Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.   

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 

discharged or cancelled or expire.   

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts 

and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities:  loans and borrowings and 

trade and other payables. Loans, borrowings and other payables due within 12 months are 

classified as current. All other loans, borrowings and payables are classified as non-current. 

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s 

cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose 

of the Statement of Cash Flows. 

The non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less directly 

attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 

stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(b)   Financial instruments (continued) 

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting  

The Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign 

exchange and interest rate risks arising from operational, financing and investment activities. 

In accordance with Daimler AG’s treasury policy, the Company does not hold or issue 

derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.  

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Company formally 

documents the relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), including 

the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the 

hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the 

hedging relationship.  

The Company makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well 

as on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly 

effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged 

items attributable to hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a 

range of 80-125 percent.  For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction 

should be highly probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash 

flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or loss. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value and attributable 

transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value and changes therein 

are accounted for as described below. 

Cash flow hedges 

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in 

cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a 

highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of 

changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and 

presented in the hedging reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value 

of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount recognised in equity is included in 

the carrying amount of the asset when the asset is recognised. In other cases the amount 

accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item 

affects profit or loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 

accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then 

hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer 

expected to occur, then the balance in equity is reclassified in profit or loss. 

Other non-trading derivatives 

When a derivative financial instrument is not held designated in a hedge relationship that 

qualifies for hedge accounting, all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in 

profit or loss. 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 

of ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any 

tax effects. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(b)   Financial instruments (continued) 

Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared. 

(c)      Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses.   

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The 

cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other 

costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, 

and the costs of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site on which they are 

located.  Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 

capitalised as part of that equipment. 

In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement date 

for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009, the Company capitalises borrowing costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part 

of the cost of that asset. 

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 

accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by 

comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and 

equipment and are recognised net within other income in profit or loss.  

Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or 

other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful 

lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects 

the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  

Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless 

it is reasonably certain that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  

Land is not depreciated.  

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Motor vehicles subject to operating leases, the 

Company as lessor 1-5 years 

Office furniture, fittings, plant & equipment 3-23 years 

Freehold land and improvements 12-25 years 

Buildings  20-40 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-

end and adjusted if appropriate.   
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(c)   Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Subsequent costs  

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 

in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 

embodied within the part will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably.  

The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  The costs of the day to day 

servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

(d) Leased assets 

Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is 

measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 

accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.  

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the Company’s 

statement of financial position. 

(e) Inventories 

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The cost of 

inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in 

acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing 

them to their existing location and condition.  Cost may also include transfers from other 

comprehensive income of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency 

purchases of inventories. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.  

(f) Impairment 

Non-derivative financial assets  

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is 

impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 

recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future 

cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include 

default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms 

that the Company would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter 

bankruptcy, and the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an 

investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its 

cost is objective evidence of impairment.  

The Company considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and 

collective level.  All individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment.   

All individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then 

collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified.  Loans 

and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment 

by grouping together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.   
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(f)   Impairment (continued) 

In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses historic trends of the probability of 

default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s 

judgement as to whether current economic and credit condition are such that the actual 

losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.  

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated 

as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognised in 

profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables.  Interest on 

the impaired asset continues to be recognised.  Where subsequent events (e.g. repayment by 

a debtor) cause the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss 

is reversed through profit or loss. 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and 

deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 

indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is 

estimated.   

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use 

and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 

are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the 

purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together 

into the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are 

largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-

generating unit (CGU)”).   

The Company’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows.  If there is an 

indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is 

determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its 

recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses 

recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated, first to reduce the carrying amount of any 

goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets 

in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

(g) Employee benefits 

Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays 

fixed contributions to a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to 

pay further amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are 

recognised as employee expenses in profit or loss in the periods during which services are 

rendered by employees.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that 

a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.  Contributions to a defined 

contribution plan, that are due more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the 

employees render the service, are discounted to their present value. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(g)   Employee benefits (continued) 

Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution 

plan.  The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated 

separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have 

earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to 

determine its present value.   

The discount rate is based on the market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds 

whereby the currency and term of the corporate bonds are consistent with the currency and 

estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligation. The calculation is performed 

annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.  

All re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset), including actuarial gains and 

losses are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. 

Under AASB 119 (2011), the Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the 

net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to 

measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net 

defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit 

liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. 

Consequently, the net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) comprises: interest 

cost on the defined benefit obligation, interest income on plan assets, and interest on the 

effect on the asset ceiling (if relevant).  

Taxes payable on future investment income of the plan are included in the return on plan 

assets and are therefore charged to other comprehensive income as part of the excess or 

shortfall of the overall return on plan assets over the amount included in net interest on the 

net defined benefit liability (asset). 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits, other than defined 

benefit plans, is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their 

service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using expected future 

increases in wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected settlement dates, 

and is discounted to its present value using the rates attached to the corporate bonds at the 

reporting date which have maturity dates approximating to the terms of the Company’s 

obligations. 

Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Company is demonstrably 

committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either 

terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits 

as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Termination benefits for 

voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Company has made an offer of 

voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of 

acceptances can be estimated reliably.  If benefits are payable more than 12 months after 

the reporting period, then they are discounted to their present value. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(g)   Employee benefits (continued) 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected 

to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present 

legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 

employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Share-based payment transactions  

The Performance Phantom Share Plan allows the Company to arrange the issue of shares or 

the equivalent value of shares of the ultimate parent, Daimler AG, to employees of the 

Company.   

In 2006 Daimler AG adopted the “Performance Phantom Share Plan” under which virtual 

shares (phantom shares) are granted to eligible employees entitling them to receive cash 

payment after four years of service.  

The fair value of the amounts payable to employees in respect of the Performance Phantom 

Share Plan, which are settled in cash, are recognised as an employee expense, with a 

corresponding increase in liabilities over the period in which the employees become 

unconditionally entitled to the payment. The liabilities are re-measured at each reporting date 

and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised as an 

employee expense in profit or loss.   

Fair value is measured with reference to the quoted price of one ordinary share in Daimler AG 

and the estimated target achievement grades as of reporting date. 

(h) Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 

constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions 

are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 

specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

Warranties 

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. 

The provision is based on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes 

against their associated probabilities. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(h)   Provisions (continued) 

Vehicle marketing 

Provisions for vehicle marketing are only recognised when the Company has approved a 

marketing plan and the marketing has either commenced or been announced to those 

parties impacted by the plan. Provisions are estimated based on the number of vehicles that 

are sold and are expected to meet the set criteria disclosed in the marketing plan. 

Legal 

Provisions for legal costs are only recognised when the Company has a legal obligation to pay 

a legal settlement and legal costs to parties subject to litigation.  The provision is a best 

estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle these legal commitments 

at the reporting date. 

Onerous contracts 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by 

the Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations 

under the contract.  The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the 

expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the 

contract.  Before a provision is established, the Company recognises any impairment loss on 

the assets associated with that contract. 

(i) Deferred income 

Deferred income is recognised in the statement of financial position when progress billings 

are received from customers under open supply contracts in advance of the delivery of the 

goods or services to the customer.  The deferred income is then recognised in profit or loss 

as the goods or services are delivered and the sale is recognised as revenue (refer to Note 

3(j)). 

(j) Revenue 

Goods sold 

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.  Revenue is 

recognised when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales 

agreement and delivery of a vehicle, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 

been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs 

and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing managerial 

involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  If it is 

probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the 

discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised. 

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of 

the contract of sale. 

Rental income 

Where the Company has agreed to provide residual value guarantees for operating leases 

entered into between Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Australia Pty Ltd and their external 

customers, rental income from these leases is recognised as other income on a straight-line 

basis over the term of the lease.  Lease income prepaid by Mercedes-Benz Financial Services 

Australia Pty Ltd is classified as deferred income. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(j)   Revenue (continued) 

Services income 

Where the Company has agreed to provide services to certain external and other related 

parties, income from these agreements is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the agreement.   

The Company has also agreed to provide services to other external parties.  Income from 

these agreements is recognised as other income when the services are provided.   

(k) Lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis over the term of the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part 

of the total lease expense and spread over the lease term. 

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 

At inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether such an arrangement is or 

contains a lease. A specific asset is the subject of a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is 

dependent on the use of that specified asset. An arrangement conveys the right to use the 

asset if the arrangement conveys to the Company the right to control the use of the 

underlying asset. At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Company 

separates payments and other consideration required by such an arrangement into those for 

the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the 

Company concludes for a finance lease that it is impractical to separate the payments 

reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the 

underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed 

finance charge on the liability is recognised using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. 

(l) Financing income and expenses 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income, changes in 

fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and gains on hedging 

instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised in profit or 

loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  Dividend income is recognised in 

profit or loss on the date the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on 

provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

impairment losses recognised on financial assets and losses on hedging instruments that are 

recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to 

acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss 

using the effective interest method. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(m) Taxation 

Tax Consolidation 

The Company is a wholly owned Australian subsidiary in a tax-consolidated group, with 

Daimler Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd as the head entity. As a consequence, all members of the 

tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity from that date. 

Current and deferred tax expense / income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 

arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are 

recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated 

group using the “separate taxpayer within group” approach by reference to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the separate financial statements of each entity and the 

tax values applying under tax consolidation. 

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses 

of the members of the tax-consolidated group are assumed by the head entity and are 

recognised by the Company as amounts payable (receivable) to (from) the head entity in 

conjunction with any tax funding arrangement amounts (refer below).  Any difference 

between these amounts is recognised as an equity contribution or distribution. 

Income tax  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current and deferred tax is 

recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 

equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 

year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax payable also includes any 

tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 

purposes.  

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 

authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 

current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 

realised simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 

temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which they can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 

benefit will be realised. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(m) Taxation (continued) 

Income Tax (continued) 

Additional income tax expenses that arise from the distribution of cash dividends are 

recognised at the same time that the liability to pay the related dividend is recognised.  The 

Company does not distribute non-cash assets as dividends to its shareholders. 

Nature of tax funding and sharing arrangements 

The Company and the head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated 

group, have entered into a tax funding agreement which sets out the funding obligations of 

members of the tax-consolidated group in respect of tax amounts.  The tax funding 

arrangements require payments to / (from) the head entity equal to the current tax liability / 

(asset) and any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the head entity, resulting in the head 

entity recognising an inter-entity receivable / (payable) equal in amount to the tax liability / 

(asset) assumed.  The inter-entity payable / (receivable) is at call. 

Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities are payable as per the tax funding 

arrangement, and reflect the timing of the head entity’s obligation to make payments for tax 

liabilities to the relevant tax authorities. 

The head entity and other members of the tax-consolidated group have also entered into a 

tax sharing agreement.  The tax sharing agreement provides for the determination of the 

allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its 

tax payment obligations.  No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in 

respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is 

considered remote. 

The tax funding and sharing agreement provides that, where on the date of consolidation an 

attribute was transferred to the head entity by a subsidiary, the head entity must make a 

compensating payment to the subsidiary. As a result, Daimler Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd will 

make compensating payments to the Company on consolidation in relation to the elimination 

of intra-group profits. 

(n) Segment reporting 

Determination and presentation of operating segments 

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities 

from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that 

relate to transactions with any of the Company’s other components.  All operating segments’ 

operating results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s CEO to make decisions about 

resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete 

financial information is available. 
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(n) Segment reporting (continued) 

Determination and presentation of operating segments (continued) 

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment 

as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.   

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, 

plant and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill. 

(o) Goods and services tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 

(GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 

the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of 

GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 

statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST 

components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are 

recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.  

(p) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

The accounting policies applied by the Company in these financial statements are the same 

as those applied by the Company in its financial report as at and for the year ended 31 

December 2015. 

The Company has identified the following accounting standards, effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and 1 January 2019 that are available for early 

adoption at 31 December 2016, which may impact the Company in the period of initial 

application: 

 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers: AASB 15 established a 

comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is 

recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including AASB 118 

Revenue, AASB 111 Constructions Contracts and Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty 

Programmes. 

 AASB 9 Financial Instruments: this standard could change the classification and 

measurement of financial assets and liabilities. 

 AASB 16 Leases: this standard has the impact of bringing most leases on-balance 

sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. 

The Company has not early adopted these standards for the financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2016. The Company is currently assessing the potential impact on its 

financial statements resulting from the application of AASB 15, AASB 9 and AASB 16. 
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4.  DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of 

fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been 

determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. 

Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values 

is disclosed in Note 3 or the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

(a) Trade and other receivables 

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash 

flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

(b) Loans and borrowings 

Fair value of loans and borrowings is determined for disclosure purposes (Note 19).  The fair 

value of loans and borrowings that are readily traded are revalued at reporting date to market 

value using quoted market prices or, if not readily traded, are measured based on present 

value of future expected principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of 

interest at the reporting date.   

(c) Derivatives 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is estimated by discounting the difference 

between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity 

of the contract using a market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

The fair value of interest rate and cross currency swaps are based on market values which 

approximate estimated future cash flows based on the terms of maturity of each contract 

and using observable market interest and foreign exchange rates at the reporting date. 

Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account 

of the credit risk of the entity and counterparty when appropriate. Refer to Note 19 for more 

information. 

Fair values are based on Level 2 valuation methodology which requires inputs, other than 

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

30 

       Note 2016 2015 

5. OTHER INCOME 
 $’000 $’000 

    

 Rental income    

From other related parties 31c 6,661 5,082 

Employee lease program  571 700 

External customers  585 953 

 Rendering of services  3,624 3,333 

 Other    

From other related parties 31c 5,780 4,548 

External parties  1,612 4,442 

Gain on sale of investments  750 108,581 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4 2,162 

 Total other income  19,587 129,801 

During the year a divestment has occurred of Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd interests in retail 

dealerships it owned in Victoria. Gain on sale of investments amount to $750,000. 

6. EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 
  

2016 

$’000 

 

2015 

$’000 

  

Wages and salaries  (70,515) (75,184) 

 Other associated personnel expenses  (7,738) (10,128) 

 Contributions to defined contribution plans  (6,952) (8,164) 

Expenses related to defined benefit plans  - (150) 

Long service leave expense  (1,743) (1,915) 

 Annual leave expense  (5,554) (6,275) 

 Termination benefits  (274) (308) 

 Cash settled share-based payment transactions 20 - (2,126) 

        Total employee expenses  (92,776) (104,250) 

 
   

7. EXPENSES 
 2016 

$’000 

2015 

$’000 

    

(a) Cost of sales:    

  Cost of sales  (3,157,300) (2,730,969) 

  Warranty, maintenance and repair expenses  (95,307) (93,537) 

  Total cost of sales  (3,252,607) (2,824,506) 

    

(b) Impairment losses incurred on value of inventories 13 (7,361) (9,330) 

    

(c) Other expenses:      

Operating leases  26 (9,196) (10,534) 

        Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (47) - 

  Other expenses  (116,603) (101,418) 

  Total other expenses  (125,846) (111,952) 
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8. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 2016 2015 

                                                                                             Note $ $ 

Audit Services 

Auditors of the Company - KPMG Australia 

  Audit and review of financial reports     (254,244)      (259,026)  

  Other regulatory audit services  (68,273) (69,403) 

 (322,517) (328,429) 

   

Auditors of the Company - KPMG Overseas 

 Audit and review of financial reports     309,953  325,723 
 

(28,562) (28,355) 

 

 (351,079) (356,784) 

 

 

        2016 2015 

9. NET FINANCING COSTS  
$’000 $’000 

   

Recognised in profit or loss   

 Interest income from:   

Related parties 106,129 112,235 

External parties 709 1,101 

 Net fair value gains on other financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss  - 6,203 

 Finance income 106,838 119,539 

   

 Interest expense from:   

Related parties (13,759) (21,669) 

 External parties (88,793) (84,469) 

 Net fair value loss on other financial assets at   

        fair value through profit or loss (4,953) - 

        Net foreign exchange loss (266) (8,331) 

 Net unwind of discount on provisions 21 (2,014) (2,034) 

 Impairment losses incurred on value of trade 

receivables 12 (7) (44) 

 Finance costs (109,792) (116,547) 

 Net finance (costs)/income (2,954) 2,992 

 
Recognised in other comprehensive income   

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 

hedges (35) 714 

Income tax on income and expenses recognised 

in other comprehensive income      10 10 (214) 

  (25) 500 
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Note 
 

2016 2015 

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE  
$’000 $’000 

       Current tax benefit/(expense)    

       Current year  (58,876) (91,000) 

 Adjustments for prior years  (1,243) (412) 

  (60,119) (91,412) 

 Deferred tax benefit/(expense)    

 Origination and reversal of temporary differences  13,288 (624) 

  13,288 (624) 

 Total income tax benefit/(expense)  (46,831) (92,036) 

    

 Numerical reconciliation between tax 

benefit/(expense) and pre-tax net profit/(loss)  (46,831) (92,036) 

 

Profit for the period  103,038 216,964 

 Total income tax expense                                                                        46,831             92,036 

 Profit before income tax  149,869 309,000 

 Income tax expense using the Company’s 

domestic tax rate of 30% (2015: 30%)   (44,961) (92,700) 

    

 Increase/(decrease) in income tax 

benefit/(expense) due to:    

 Non-deductible expenses  (463) 1,076 

       Income tax over/(under) provided in prior year  (1,243) (412) 

        Income tax expense on pre-tax net profit  (46,667) (92,036) 

    

 Deferred tax recognised in other 

comprehensive income    

 Relating to gains and losses on cash flow hedges  10 (214) 

        Relating to defined benefit plan  - (95) 

 Total deferred tax recognised in other 

comprehensive income 15 10 (309) 

  

  

 

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
   

    

 Bank balances  67,547 41,876 

 Call deposits   3,339 4,251 

 Cash and cash equivalents in the  

Statement of Cash Flows 24a 70,886 46,127 

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities 

are disclosed in Note 19. Call deposits relate to funds with maturities of less than 3 months. 
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        2016 2015 

12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Note $’000 $’000 

    

Current    

Non-interest bearing    

Trade receivables   75,568 73,031 

Receivables due from ultimate parent entity 31a 11,499 25,068 

Receivables due from immediate parent entity 31b 22,500 439 

Receivables due from other related entities  106,194 78,676 

Prepayments and other assets  3,143 6,087 

  218,904 183,301 

Interest bearing    

Loans due from other related entities  2,182,277 2,022,883 

  2,182,277 2,022,883 

  2,401,181 2,206,184 

    

Non-current    

Non-interest bearing    

Receivables due from ultimate parent entity 31a 2,406 15,652 

Receivables due from other related entities  - 2,339 

  2,406 17,991 

Interest bearing    

Loans due from other related entities 31c 1,567,832 1,171,980 

  1,567,832 1,171,980 

  1,570,238 1,189,971 

Trade receivables are shown net of impairment losses. Impairment losses on trade receivables recognised 

in the current year amount to $7,000 (2015: $44,000) and relate to a high probability of not collecting 

debts from a number of customers (refer Note 9).   

The Company’s exposure to credit risk for financial assets is disclosed in Note 19. 

 

13. INVENTORIES 
   

    

Consumables  117 134 

Finished goods   613,101 546,769 

Goods in transit  264,169 275,785 

  877,387 822,688 

 

Finished goods – at cost  450,356 368,092 

Finished goods – at net realisable value  162,745 178,677 

   613,101  546,769 

 

During the year consumables and changes in finished goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to 

$3.157 billion (2015: $2.731 billion) and write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to 

$7.361 million (2015: $9.330 million) for continuing operations, primarily relating to obsolete parts stock 

and vehicle provisions (refer Note 7(b)). Inventories are shown net of impairment losses.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 
Land and 

improvements  Buildings 

Plant and 

equipment 

Assets under 

Construction  Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Cost      

Balance at 1 January 2015 38,709 100,172 99,722 1,151 239,754 

Acquisitions  - 421 62,741 1,407 64,569 

Transfers  -  - - -  -  

Disposals (25,825) (32,038) (60,392)  -  (118,255) 

Balance at 31 December 2015 12,884 68,555 102,071 2,558 186,068 

Balance at 1 January 2016 12,884 68,555 102,071 2,558 186,068 

Acquisitions  - 353 67,010 7,871 75,234 

Transfers  -  - 2,911 (2,911)  -  

Disposals (5) (1,272) (60,797)  -  (62,074) 

Balance at 31 December 2016 12,879 67,636 111,195 7,518 199,228 

Depreciation      

Balance at 1 January 2015 (1,123) (31,873) (32,604)  -  (65,600) 

Depreciation charge for the year (55) (2,230) (10,096)  -  (12,381) 

Transfers  -     -     -     -   -  

Disposals 883 7,062 8,241  -  16,186 

Balance at 31 December 2015 (295) (27,041) (34,459)  -  (61,795) 

Balance at 1 January 2016 (295) (27,041) (34,459)  -  (61,795) 

Depreciation charge for the year (10) (1,562) (18,239)  -  (19,811) 

Transfers  -     -     -     -   -  

Disposals 3 1,254 7,346  -  8,603 

Balance at 31 December 2016 (302) (27,349) (45,352)  -  (73,003) 

Carrying amounts      

Balance at 1 January 2015 37,586 68,299 67,118 1,151 174,154 

Balance at 31 December 2015 12,589 41,514 67,612 2,558 124,273 

Balance at 1 January 2016 12,589 41,514 67,612 2,558 124,273 

Balance at 31 December 2016 12,577 40,287 65,843 7,518 126,225 
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

Assets under construction 

Assets under construction at reporting date totalling $7.518 million (2015: $2.558 million) primarily relate 

to IT upgrades. 

Operating lease transactions 

Vehicles that are subject to operating leases between a related party, Mercedes-Benz Financial Services 

Australia Pty Ltd (“MBFSAu”) and their external customers, and where the Company has agreed to provide 

residual value guarantees, are accounted for as plant and equipment. The written down value of the 

vehicles under operating leases is $57.236 million (2015: $60.731 million). Additions for plant and 

equipment amounting to $62.405 million (2015: $60.348 million) related to the new operating lease 

arrangements entered into by MBFSAu with their external customers.  These additions are reflected as 

non-cash acquisitions as prior to the operating lease arrangements being entered into, these vehicles 

have been purchased as inventory as part of the normal operating activities of the Company.  

Similarly, disposals for plant and equipment with an initial acquisition cost of $56.282 million (2015: 

$52.612 million) and a carrying value of $50.459 million related to the expired operating lease 

arrangements entered into by MBFSAu with their external customers. Upon expiry of the operating lease 

arrangements, these vehicles were transferred to inventory of the Company. These disposals are reflected 

as non-cash disposals. 

 

 

 

  

 

2016 

 

 

2015 

15. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 $’000 $’000 

    

 Recognised deferred tax assets 

Net deferred tax assets are attributable to the following: 

    

Provisions  76,968 67,475 

Employee benefits  5,110 4,925 

Cash settled share-based payment transactions  - 922 

Payable to other related entities  19,160 20,205 

Provision for doubtful debts  9 10 

Provision for diminution of inventories  9,866 10,047 

Depreciation timing differences   1,305 1,306 

Other payables  7,981 7,706 

Derivative financial instruments  11 1,469 

Operating leases as lessor  (17,171) (18,219) 

Prepayments  565 500 

Profit deferral for tax purposes  (30,479) (36,599) 

Other items  (280) - 

Net deferred tax assets  73,045 59,747 
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15. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, Daimler Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd (the head entity) 

has assumed the current tax liability or asset initially recognised by the Company which is a member of 

the tax consolidated group.  

Under the tax funding arrangement the Company and the head entity recognise an inter-entity payable or 

receivable equal in amount to the current tax liability or asset assumed.  The Company continues to 

recognise income tax expense or benefit even though it has derecognised its current tax liability or asset.  

At 31 December 2016 the Company had an intercompany receivable of $22.5 million (2015: payable of 

$25.158 million) relating to a current tax receivable assumed by the head entity which is included in 

Trade and other receivables (refer to Note 12).   
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 15. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

Movement in temporary differences during the year 

 
 2016 2015 

 

Balance at 1 

January 2016 

Recognised 

in income 

Recognised in 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Balance at 31 

December 

2016 

Balance at 1 

January 2015 

Recognised 

in income 

Recognised in 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Balance at 31 

December 

2015 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

         

Provisions 67,475 9,493 - 76,968 60,496 6,979 - 67,475 

Employee benefits 4,925 185 - 5,110 5,202 (277) - 4,925 

Recognised liability for defined 

benefit plans - - - - 205 (110) (95) - 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings - - - - 76 (76) - - 

 Cash settled share-based payment 

transactions 922 (922) - - 674 248 - 922 

Payable to other related entities 20,205 (1,045) - 19,160 18,364 1,841 - 20,205 

Provision for doubtful debts 10 (1) - 9 2 8 - 10 

 Provision for diminution of 

inventories 10,047 (181) - 9,866 9,544 503 - 10,047 

Depreciation timing differences 1,306 (1) - 1,305 1,412 (106) - 1,306 

Other payables 7,706 275  7,981 5,587 2,119  7,706 

Derivative financial instruments 1,469 (1,468) 10 11 999 684 (214) 1,469 

Operating leases as lessor (18,219) 1,048 - (17,171) (16,837) (1,382) - (18,219) 

Prepayments 500 65 - 565 880 (380) - 500 

Receivables from related parties - - - - - - - - 

Profit deferral for tax purposes (36,599) 6,120 - (30,479) (25,784) (10,815) - (36,599) 

Other items - (280) - (280) (140) 140 - - 

Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) 59,747 13,288 10 73,045 60,680 (624) (309) 59,747 
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  2016 2015 

 Note $’000 $’000 

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
   

    

Current    

Trade payables  22,272 18,300 

Payable to ultimate parent entity 31a 411,814 333,182 

Payable to immediate parent entity 31b - 25,158 

Payable to other related entities 31c 98,153 106,583 

Other payables  114,801 120,551 

  647,040 603,774 

Non-current    

Payable to other related entities 31c 6,599 11,942 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and current trade and other payables are due 

and payable within 30 days from receipt of invoice. 

The Company’s exposure to liquidity and currency risks related to trade and other payables are 

disclosed in Note 19. 

17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

    

Current    

Bank loans (secured) (b) 990,000 625,000 

Notes (secured)   (c) 524,548 673,415 

Commercial papers (secured) (d) 255,752 269,665 

Loans from ultimate parent entity 31a, (e) 50,386 - 

  1,820,686 1,568,080 

Non-current    

Bank loans (secured) (b) 705,000 250,000 

Notes (secured) (c) 747,831 921,980 

  1,452,831 1,171,980 

    

The Company has access to the following lines of credit:   

Bank overdraft (unsecured) (a) 75,000 70,000 

Bank loans (secured) (b) 1,825,000 955,000 

Notes (secured)   (c) 1,272,379 1,595,395 

Commercial papers (secured) (d) 279,752 269,665 

Loans from ultimate parent entity (e) 50,386 - 

  3,502,517 2,890,060 

Facilities utilised at reporting date     

Bank loans (secured) (b) 1,695,000 875,000 

Notes (secured)   (c) 1,272,379 1,595,395 

Commercial papers (secured) (d) 255,752 269,665 

Loans from ultimate parent entity (e) 50,386 - 

  3,273,517 2,740,060 
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17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

  2016 2015 

 Note $’000 $’000 

    

Facilities not utilised at reporting date     

Bank overdraft (unsecured) (a) 75,000 70,000 

Bank loans (secured) (b) 130,000 80,000 

Commercial papers (secured) (d) 24,000 - 

  229,000 150,000 

    

The proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings have been used predominantly to finance the 

activities of related parties and to meet the Company’s working capital needs. Interest payable on loans 

and borrowings and interest receivable from related parties have been included in profit or loss as finance 

costs and income respectively.  

Current portion of bank loans, notes, commercial papers and loans from the ultimate parent entity and 

other related entity are payable within one year from the reporting date. 

Non-current portion of bank loans, notes and loans from ultimate parent entity are payable on or before 

15 November 2019, but after one year from the balance date of these financial statements. 

The Company’s exposure to credit, liquidity and market rate risks and a sensitivity analysis for financial 

assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 19. 

(a) Bank overdraft (unsecured) 

The Company’s bank overdraft is denominated in AUD and is payable on demand and subject to annual 

review. Interest is charged at prevailing market rates.   

(b) Bank loans (secured) 

The Company’s bank loans are denominated in AUD.  The Company has access to credit facilities which 

are subject to annual renewal. Interest is charged at prevailing market rates.  The Company has the 

following bank loans (secured) outstanding at 31 December 2016 which are guaranteed by the ultimate 

parent entity: 
 

Currency of Loan Value of Loan Due Date Interest re-pricing 

AUD  45,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  60,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  70,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  30,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  20,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  25,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  25,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  195,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  55,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  15,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000  Mar-17 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000  Apr-17 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000  May-17 On maturity 

AUD  75,000,000 Aug-17 On maturity 

AUD  25,000,000 Sep-17 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Oct-17 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Jan-18 On maturity 

AUD  80,000,000 Apr-18 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Apr-18 On maturity 
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17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

 

AUD  50,000,000 Jun-18 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Jul-18 On maturity 

AUD  5,000,000 Aug-18 On maturity 

AUD  25,000,000 Aug-18 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Oct-18 On maturity 

AUD  25,000,000 Oct-18 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Dec-18 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Jan-19 On maturity 

AUD  20,000,000 Apr-19 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Apr-19 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Apr-19 On maturity 

AUD  50,000,000 Oct-19 On maturity 

 (c) Notes (secured) 

The Company has authorised the following note issues outstanding at 31 December 2016 denominated in 

EUR and AUD which are guaranteed by the ultimate parent entity: 

Currency of Issue Value of Note Due Date Interest re-pricing 

AUD 125,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000  Apr-17 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000  Jun-17 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Aug-17 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Nov-17 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Jan-18 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Mar-18 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Jun-18 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 Nov-18 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000 May-19 On maturity 

AUD 125,000,000 Aug-19 On maturity 

AUD  25,000,000  Aug-19 On maturity 

AUD  100,000,000  Nov-19 On maturity 

 

 

All issues are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and guaranteed by Daimler AG. Interest rates on 

AUD fixed interest notes are agreed at the inception of the notes. Interest rates on EUR floating interest 

notes are agreed at the inception of the notes and re-priced on a quarterly basis. Average interest rates are 

set out in Note 19. 

(d) Commercial papers (secured) 

The Company has authorised the following commercial papers issues outstanding at 31 December 2016 

denominated in AUD which are guaranteed by the ultimate parent entity: 

 
Currency  Value of Commercial 

Papers 

Due Date Interest  

re-pricing 

AUD  15,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  41,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  15,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  15,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  40,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  10,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  25,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 
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17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

 

AUD  35,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  15,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  15,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

AUD  30,000,000  Jan-17 On maturity 

(e) Loans from ultimate parent entity 

The Company has authorised the following loans from its ultimate parent entity outstanding at 31 

December 2016: 

Currency  Value of Loan Due Date Currency Swap Interest  

re-pricing 

EUR 34,520,136 Jan-17 EUR to AUD On Maturity 

All issues are from Daimler AG (refer Note 31 (a)). Interest rates on related party loans are re-priced 

annually to market rates as indicated.  Interest rates on fixed interest related party loans are agreed at the 

inception of the loans.   

 

 2016 2015 

18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
$’000 $’000 

   

Derivative Assets   

Current    

Foreign exchange swap contracts - cash flow hedges 350 - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts – no hedge accounting 580 - 

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting 241 142 

Forward foreign exchange contracts – no hedge accounting - 883 

 1,171 1,025 

Non-current    

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting 2,855 773 

 2,855 773 

   

Derivative Liabilities   

Current    

Cross currency swap contracts - cash flow hedges - 4,279 

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting 241 142 

Forward foreign exchange contracts – no hedge accounting 462 1,356 

Foreign exchange swap contracts – no hedge accounting - 146 

 703 5,923 

Non-current    

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting 2,853 773 

 2,853 773 

The Company’s exposure to credit, liquidity and market rate risks and a sensitivity analysis for financial 

assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 19. Contracts are classified as current where maturity dates 

are less than 12 months. All other contracts are classified as non-current. 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks from its use of financial instruments. 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, 

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Further 

quantitative disclosures are also included in this note and throughout this financial report. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk 

management framework and is also responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 

policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s 

activities.  The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to 

develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles 

and obligations.  

The Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk management 

policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the 

risks faced by the Company.  

Credit Risk 

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers and certain key suppliers.  Credit risk represents the 

loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted. 

Swap and foreign exchange contracts are subject to credit risk in relation to the relevant counterparties, 

which is principally Daimler AG.  At 31 December 2016 the credit rating of Daimler AG was as follows: 

 

 Standard & Poors A 

Moody’s A2 

Fitch A- 

 

The Company also has derivative contracts with external counterparties.  The Company’s ultimate parent 

Daimler AG determines which counterparties are contracted with.  Typically this will only be with A rated 

external counterparties. 

 

The ultimate parent entity Daimler AG guarantees all external debt held by the Company. 

 

The maximum credit risk exposure on foreign currency contracts is the full amount of the foreign currency 

the Company pays when settlement occurs, should the counterparty fail to pay the amount which it is 

committed to pay the Company.   

Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The 

Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

  2016 2015 

 Note $’000 $’000 

    

 Trade and other receivables 12 3,971,419 3,396,155 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 70,886 46,127 

Derivative financial instruments 18 4,026 1,798 

  4,046,331 3,444,080 

The Company minimises concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of 

customers and counterparties, and is not materially exposed to any individual third party customer as at 

the reporting date.  
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Credit Risk (continued) 

At reporting date 96% (2015: 96%) of trade and other receivables related to a related party, Mercedes-

Benz Financial Services Australia Pty Ltd. Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Australia Pty Ltd is subject to 

a commitment by Daimler Australia/Pacific Holdings Pty Ltd to ensure adequate funds are available to 

meet payments of liabilities as they fall due. Other than this, there were no significant concentrations of 

credit risk relating to the Company’s trade and other receivables.   

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the reporting date by 

geographic region was: 

  2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

 

Australia  3,932,302 3,380,410 

Europe  14,641 6,417 

New Zealand  859 574 

Asia  1,156 2,779 

Americas  22,456 5,821 

Africa  5 154 

  3,971,419 3,396,155 

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the reporting date by 

type of customer was: 

    

    

Wholesale customers  3,963,587 3,375,728 

Retail customers  7,832 20,427 

  3,971,419 3,396,155 

 

Impairment losses 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of the trade and other receivables during the 

year was: 

    

Balance at 1 January  34 8 

Impairment losses recognised   7 44 

Allowance utilised  (11) (18) 

Balance at 31 December  30 34 

Impairment losses incurred in respect of trade and other receivables for the reporting period primarily 

related to a high probability of not collecting debts from external retail customers (refer Note 12).  

The ageing of the Company’s trade and other receivables at the reporting date was: 

 2016 2015 

 Gross Impairment Gross Impairment 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

     

 Not past due 3,957,433 - 3,353,977 - 

Past due 1-30 days 9,045 -  36,302 - 

Past due 30-60 days 2,534 - 1,605 - 

Past due 60-90 days  934 -  2,602 - 

Past due 90-120 days 231 - 631 - 

Past due 120+ days  1,272 (30)  1,072 (34) 

 3,971,449 (30) 3,396,189 (34) 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.  The Company monitors 

cash flow requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 

expenses on an on-going basis. 

Daimler AG applies a cash concentration method for cash and asset management throughout the global 

Daimler group. The overriding principle of cash management is to concentrate cash at the highest 

possible level to maximise investment returns and to minimise borrowing costs.  

Daimler AG Group treasury develops proposals concerning the allocation of financial assets on the basis 

of the global Daimler group’s liquidity planning; the CFO is to determine the final asset allocation. 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities, including estimated interest receipts or payments: 
2016 

$’000 Note 

Carrying  

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 1 year or less 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years More than 5 years 

Non derivative financial assets        

Loans and other receivables due from other related entities  3,594,325  3,723,270  2,103,172   986,091 634,007  - 

Treasury sweep  261,978 - - - - - 

  3,856,303 3,723,270 2,103,172   986,091   634,007 - 

Non derivative financial liabilities        

Bank loans (secured)    (1,695,000) (1,746,777)   (1,020,245) (449,306) (275,760) (1,466) 

Notes issued (secured) 17   (1,272,379)   (1,342,869)   (563,744) (420,125) (359,000)  -    

Loans from other related entities 17 - - -  -     -     -    

Commercial papers (secured) 17 (255,752) (256,000) (256,000)  -     -     -    

Loans from the ultimate parent entity 17 (50,386) (54,997) (52,100) (1,037) (736) (1,124) 

Trade and other payables 16 (653,639) (653,639)   (653,639)  -     -     -    

  (3,927,156) (4,054,282)   (2,545,728) (870,468)   (635,496) (2,590) 

Derivative financial assets        

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting  3,096 2,321 1,488 636 197  -    

Forward foreign exchange contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 
18 

- - - -  -     -    

 Pay legs - - -  -  -     -    

Foreign exchange swap contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 
18 

580 

- 

11,078 11,078  -     -     -    

 Pay legs (10,526) (10,526)  -     -     -    

Foreign exchange swap contracts – cash flow hedges        

 Receive legs 
18 

350 

- 

50,382 50,382  -     -     -    

 Pay legs (50,131) (50,131)  -     -     -    

  4,026 3,124 2,291 636 197  -    

Derivative financial liabilities        

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting  (3,094) (2,314) (1,481) (636) (197)  -    

Cross currency swap – cash flow hedges        

 Receive legs 
18 

- -  - -  -     -    

 Pay legs - - - -  -     -    

Forward foreign exchange contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 18 (462)  16,616  16,616 -  -     -    

 Pay legs  - (17,098) (17,098) -  -     -    

Foreign exchange swap contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 
18 

- - - - - - 

 Pay legs - - - - - - 

  (3,556) (2,796) (1,963) (636) (197)  -    
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
2015 

$’000 Note 

Carrying  

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 1 year or less 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years More than 5 years 

Non derivative financial assets        

Loans and other receivables due from other related entities   2,716,789  2,835,662  1,612,544   811,493 411,625  - 

Treasury sweep  478,074 - - - - - 

 12 3,194,863   2,835,662 1,612,544   811,493   411,625 - 

Non derivative financial liabilities        

Bank loans (secured) 17   (875,000) (898,442)   (639,468) (255,923) (1,190) (1,861) 

Notes issued (secured) 17   (1,595,395)   (1,689,874)   (723,936) (554,813) (411,125)  -    

Loans from other related entities 17 - - -  -     -     -    

Commercial papers (secured) 17 (269,665) (270,000) (270,000)  -     -     -    

Trade and other payables 16 (615,716) (615,716)   (615,716)  -     -     -    

  (3,355,776) (3,474,032)   (2,249,120) (810,736)   (412,315) (1,861) 

Derivative financial assets        

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting 18 915 980 581   514 (115)  -    

Forward foreign exchange contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 
18 

883 

- 

  38,313   38,313 -  -     -    

 Pay legs (37,683) (37,683)  -  -     -    

Foreign exchange swap contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 
18 

- 

- 

  - -  -     -     -    

 Pay legs - -  -     -     -    

Foreign exchange swap contracts – cash flow hedges        

 Receive legs 
18 

- 

- 

 - -  -     -     -    

 Pay legs  -  -  -     -     -    

  1,798 1,610 1,211 514 (115)  -    

Derivative financial liabilities        

Interest rate swap contracts – no hedge accounting 18 (915) (980) (581) (514)  115  -    

Cross currency swap – cash flow hedges        

 Receive legs 
18 

(4,279) 

- 

 149,010  149,010 -  -     -    

 Pay legs (154,361) (154,361) -  -     -    

Forward foreign exchange contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 18 (1,356)  49,260  49,260 -  -     -    

 Pay legs  - (51,005) (51,005) -  -     -    

Foreign exchange swap contracts – no hedge accounting        

 Receive legs 
18 

(146) 

- 

 7,184  7,184 - - - 

 Pay legs (7,337) (7,337) - - - 

  (6,696) (8,229) (7,830) (514) 115  -    
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Currency risk  

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on purchases and funding transactions that are 

denominated in a currency other than AUD.  The currencies giving rise to this risk are USD (vehicle 

inventory purchases) and EUR (loans and borrowings, spare parts purchases or specific contracts).   

The Company uses forward exchange contracts to economically hedge certain firm purchase 

commitments denominated in foreign currencies. 

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the AUD, the Company 

ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at 

spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.  The Company uses cross currency swaps, 

foreign exchange swap contracts and forward exchange contracts to hedge monetary assets and liabilities 

held in foreign currencies. 

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at reporting date was based on notional amounts as set 

out in the tables below.  Note that the only material net currency exposure is with USD.  As mentioned 

above these exposures are taken to hedge against USD firm purchase commitments.  The effect of 

movements in foreign exchange rates on the Company’s net currency exposure is disclosed in the 

Sensitivity Analysis below.  
 2016  

 AUD $’000 EURO €’000 USD $’000 SGD $’000 NZD $’000 

Non derivative financial assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 69,542   190 793  -    - 

Trade receivables 55,286   175 14,918  -    25 

Receivables due from ultimate parent entity 13,905  -     -     -    - 

Receivables due from immediate parent entity 22,500  -     -     -    - 

Loans and other receivables due from other related 

entities 

3,856,303  -     -     -    - 

Prepayments and other assets 3,143 -  -     -    - 

 4,020,679 365 15,711  -    25 

Non derivative financial liabilities      

Bank loans (secured) (1,695,000)   -     -     -    - 

Notes issued (secured) (1,272,379) -   -    - 

Commercial papers (secured) (255,752) -     -     -    - 

Loans from the ultimate parent entity  -    (34,520)  -    - - 

Loans from related parties  -    -    -     -    - 

Trade payables (649,846) (1,838) (751) (115) - 

 (3,872,977) (36,358) (751) (115) - 

Derivative financial assets      

Cash flow hedges      

Cross currency swap      

 Receive legs - - -  -    - 

 Pay legs - - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - 34,518 - - - 

 Pay legs (50,131) - - - - 

No hedge accounting      

Interest rate swap contracts      

 Receive legs 350,000 - - - - 

 Pay legs (350,000) - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - - -  -    - 

 Pay legs - - - - - 

Forward foreign exchange contracts      

 Receive legs - - 8,000 - - 

 Pay legs (10,526) - - - - 

 (60,657) 34,518 8,000 - - 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Currency risk (continued)  
Derivative financial liabilities      

Cash flow hedges  2016  

Cross currency swap AUD $’000 EURO €’000 USD $’000 SGD $’000 NZD $’000 

 Receive legs -  - - - - 

 Pay legs - - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - - - - - 

 Pay legs  - - - - - 

No hedge accounting      

Interest rate swap contracts      

 Receive legs 350,000 - - - - 

 Pay legs (350,000) - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - - - - - 

 Pay legs - - - - - 

Forward foreign exchange contracts      

 Receive legs - - 12,000 - - 

 Pay legs (17,098) - - - - 

 (17,098) - 12,000 - - 

      

Net Currency Exposure 69,947  (1,475) 34,960  (115)   25 

 
 2015  

 AUD $’000 EURO €’000 USD $’000 SGD $’000 NZD $’000 

Non derivative financial assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 45,323   76 505  -    - 

Trade receivables 72,926   65 5  -    - 

Receivables due from ultimate parent entity 40,720  -     -     -    - 

Receivables due from immediate parent entity 439  -     -     -    - 

Loans and other receivables due from other related 

entities 

3,275,877  -     -     -    - 

Prepayments and other assets 6,087 -  -     -    - 

 3,441,372 141 510  -    - 

Non derivative financial liabilities      

Bank loans (secured) (875,000)   -     -     -    - 

Notes issued (secured) (1,446,434)  (100,000)   -    - 

Commercial papers (secured) (269,665) -     -     -    - 

Loans from the ultimate parent entity  -    -  -    - - 

Loans from related parties  -    -    -     -    - 

Trade payables (608,270) (2,179) (2,123) (1,259) - 

 (3,199,369) (102,179) (2,123) (1,259) - 

Derivative financial assets      

Cash flow hedges      

Cross currency swap      

 Receive legs - - -  -    - 

 Pay legs - - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - - - - - 

 Pay legs - - - - - 

No hedge accounting      

Interest rate swap contracts      

 Receive legs 145,690 - - - - 

 Pay legs (145,690) - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - - -  -    - 

 Pay legs - - - - - 

Forward foreign exchange contracts      

 Receive legs - - 15,000 - - 

 Pay legs (19,705) - - - - 

 (19,705) - 15,000 - - 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Currency risk (continued)  

 
Derivative financial liabilities      

Cash flow hedges  2015  

Cross currency swap AUD $’000 EURO €’000 USD $’000 SGD $’000 NZD $’000 

 Receive legs -  100,000 - - - 

 Pay legs (153,280) - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - - - - - 

 Pay legs  - - - - - 

No hedge accounting      

Interest rate swap contracts      

 Receive legs 145,690 - - - - 

 Pay legs (145,690) - - - - 

Foreign exchange swap contracts      

 Receive legs - - 5,250 - - 

 Pay legs (7,324) - - - - 

Forward foreign exchange contracts      

 Receive legs - - 49,000 - - 

 Pay legs (68,984) - - - - 

 (229,588) 100,000 54,250 - - 

      

Net Currency Exposure (7,290)  (2,038) 67,637  (1,259)   - 

  

 

The following significant exchange rates were applied during and at the end of the year: 

 

 Average rate Reporting date spot rate 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

AUD:EURO 0.672 0.677 0.685 0.671 

AUD:NZD 1.067 1.078 1.039 1.069 

AUD:USD 0.744 0.751 0.722 0.731 

AUD:SGD 1.026 1.032 1.044 1.035 

Sensitivity analysis 

A 10 percent strengthening or weakening of the Australian dollar against the following currencies at 31 

December 2016 would have increased / (decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This 

analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.  The analysis is 

performed on the same basis for 2015. 

 

 2016 2015 

 Profit or loss Profit or loss 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease 

AUD:EURO 170 (208) 276 (337) 

AUD:NZD (2) 3 - - 

AUD:USD (4,498) 5,497 (8,476) 10,360 

AUD:SGD 10 (12) 111 (135) 

The amount recognised in Equity from a 10% movement in foreign exchange rates is minimal, with spot 

movements on the swaps being offset against spot movements on the hedged foreign denominated loans 

in profit or loss.   
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Company manages interest rate risk by entering into interest rate and cross currency swaps in order 

to minimise currency interest rate risks and achieve an appropriate mix of fixed and floating AUD interest 

rate exposure within the Company’s policy.  The swaps mature over the next three years following the 

maturity of the related loans.  At 31 December 2016 the Company had interest rate and cross currency 

swaps with a notional contract amount of $0.70 billion (2015: $0.86 billion).   

Where currency or AUD interest rates swaps are designated as hedges, the Company designates currency 

or AUD interest rate swaps that fix interest cash flows in AUD as cash flow hedges with respect to interest 

rate and currency risk.  Currency interest rate swaps that do not fix interest cash flows in AUD are 

designated as cash flow hedges with respect to currency risk only.  The Company measures all interest 

rate and cross currency swaps at fair value.   

The net fair value of swaps is shown in Note 18.   

Interest sensitivity analysis 

 
As part of its risk management control systems, Daimler AG (the ultimate parent entity) employs value-at-

risk analysis as recommended by the Bank for International Settlements.  In performing these analyses, 

the market risk exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 

are quantified on a continuous basis by predicting the maximum loss over a target time horizon (holding 

period) and confidence level.  The value-at-risk calculations employed express potential losses in fair 

values, and are based on the variance-covariance approach, assuming a 99% confidence level and a 

holding period of five days. 

The value-at-risk calculation is performed by Daimler AG for the Company.  When the value-at-risk of the 

Company’s portfolio of financial instruments is calculated, the current fair value of these financial 

instruments is first computed.  Then, the sensitivity of the Company’s portfolio value to changes in 

relevant market risk factors is quantified.  Based on expected volatilities and correlations of these market 

risk factors (obtained from the RiskMetrics
TM

 dataset), potential changes of the portfolio value are 

computed by applying the variance-covariance approach.  The variance-covariance approach is a 

statistical method used to quantify the total impact of all relevant major risk factors on the portfolio’s 

present value.  Through these calculations and by assuming a 99% confidence level and the five day 

holding period, the Company’s value-at-risk is obtained.  The 99% confidence level and the five day holding 

period indicate that there is only a 1% statistical probability that the value-at-risk will be exceeded by 

losses at the end of the five day holding period. 

The following table shows the period-end high, low and average value-at-risk (“VaR”) figures for the 2016 

and 2015 portfolio of interest rate sensitive financial instruments.  VaR numbers reflect the quantified net 

fair value movements on the hedged loan payables and receivable balances.  Average exposure has been 

computed on an end of quarter basis: 

 Period-end High Low Average 

Interest rate risk  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2016 3,739 4,878 1,904 3,579 

2015 3,009 3,691 2,774 3,270 

Cash flow exposures arising from significant portions of the loans payable to related parties are 

economically hedged by amounts receivable from other related parties. 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Hedging 

The Company hedges at least 90% of all receivables and payables denominated in foreign currency. At any 

point in time, the Company also hedges a varying proportion of its estimated foreign currency exposure in 

respect of forecast sales and purchases over the next 6 to18 months.  The proportion is determined by 

reference model.  A favourable outlook for a given currency from the Company’s perspective will result in 

the Company hedging forward for shorter periods of time and with lower proportions.  An unfavourable 

outlook for a given currency from the Company’s perspective will result in the Company hedging forward 

for longer periods of time and greater proportions.  

The Company uses forward exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge its foreign currency risk.  

Most of these contracts have maturities of less than one year after the reporting date.  Where necessary 

the forward foreign exchange contracts are rolled over at maturity. 

In regard to the Company’s EUR denominated notes and loans, the Company classifies related hedge 

contracts as either cash flow or fair value hedges.  Hedges have been valued using market-sourced inputs. 

There were no fair value hedges during the financial year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil). 

The effective portion of gains and losses on revaluation of cash flow hedges are recognised in other 

comprehensive income. These are reclassified into profit or loss when the underlying asset acquired or 

liability assumed is recognised in profit or loss.   

Gains and losses on revaluation of fair value hedges and their related notes or receivables are recorded in 

profit or loss as part of net financing costs (Note 9). 

Changes in the fair value of hedge contracts, that economically hedge forecasted transactions in foreign 

currencies, and for which no hedge accounting is applied, are recognised in profit or loss.  Both the 

changes in fair value of these hedge contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the 

monetary items are recognised as part of net financing costs (Note 9). 

The Company has EUR denominated notes and loans (Note 17).  The Company has fully hedged the 

principal amounts using cross currency interest rate swaps, foreign exchange swaps and forwards that 

mature on the same dates as the loans are due for repayment.   

Fair values 

Fair value versus carrying amounts 

Except for derivative financial assets and liabilities which are carried at fair values, all other monetary 

assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost.  The carrying values of foreign currency borrowings are 

determined by translating them into AUD using exchange rates prevailing at reporting date.  For 

receivables and payables expected to be recovered or settled no more than twelve months after the 

reporting date, the carrying value is deemed to reflect the fair value.   

All financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are based on Level 2 valuation methodology which 

requires inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (ie. derived from prices). 

Interest rates used for determining fair value 

The entity uses the implied zero coupon yield curve as of 31 December 2016 to discount financial 

instruments holding credit margins constant.  The interest rates used have been consistently applied 

using rates between 2.43% and 1.52% (2015: between 2.02% and 2.36%). 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Fair values (continued) 

 

 2016 2015 

 

Carrying 

amount 

$’000 

Fair  

value  

$’000 

Carrying 

amount 

$’000 

Fair  

value  

$’000 

Non derivative financial assets     

Loans due from other related 

entities 3,856,303 3,773,420 3,194,863 3,218,061 

     

Non derivative financial liabilities     

Bank loans (secured) (1,695,000) (1,705,582) (875,000) (878,065) 

Notes (secured) (1,272,379) (1,284,362) (1,595,395) (1,615,453) 

Commercial papers (secured) (255,752) (255,725) (269,665) (269,665) 

Loans from the ultimate parent 

entity (50,386) (50,386) - - 

     

The basis of determining fair values is disclosed in Note 4. 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Derivatives 

The fair value of all foreign currency and interest rate derivatives are determined by applying valuation 

techniques to market-sourced inputs. 

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on 

management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at 

the reporting date.  Where other pricing models are used, inputs are based on market related data at the 

reporting date. 

Master netting or similar agreements 

The Company enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives Association 

(ISDA) master netting agreements. In general, under such agreements the amounts owed by each 

counterparty on a single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in the same currency are 

aggregated into a single net amount that is payable by one party to the other. In certain circumstances – 

e.g. when a credit event such as a default occurs, all outstanding transactions under the agreement are 

terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a single net amount is payable in settlement of all 

transactions. 

The ISDA agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial position. This is 

because the Company does not have any currently legally enforceable right to offset recognised amounts, 

because the right to offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of future events such as a default on the 

bank loans or other credit events. 

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of recognised financial instruments that are subject to 

the above agreements. 

 

31 December 2016 

Gross and net 

amounts of 

financial 

instruments in 

the statement 

of financial 

position 

$’000 

Related 

financial 

instruments 

that are not 

offset  

$’000 

Net Amount 

$’000 

Financial assets    

Foreign exchange swap contracts used for 

hedging 
350 - 350 

Other foreign exchange swap contracts 580 - 580 

Other interest rate swap contracts 3,096 (1,099) 1,997 

 4,026 (1,099) 2,927 

Financial liabilities    

Other forward foreign exchange contracts (462) - (462) 

Other interest rate swap contracts (3,094) 1,099 (1,995) 

 (3,556) 1,099 (2,457) 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Master netting or similar agreements (continued) 

 

31 December 2015 

Gross and net 

amounts of 

financial 

instruments in 

the statement 

of financial 

position 

$’000 

Related 

financial 

instruments 

that are not 

offset  

$’000 

Net Amount 

$’000 

Financial assets    

Foreign exchange swap contracts used for 

hedging 
- - - 

Other foreign exchange swap contracts - - - 

Other interest rate swap contracts 915 (258) 657 

Other forward foreign exchange contracts 883 (883) - 

 1,798 (1,141) 657 

Financial liabilities    

Cross currency swaps used for hedging (4,279) - (4,279) 

Foreign exchange swap contracts used for 

hedging 
- - - 

Other foreign exchange swap contracts (146) - (146) 

Other forward foreign exchange contracts (1,356) 883 (473) 

Other interest rate swap contracts (915) 258 (657) 

 (6,696) 1,141 (5,555) 

Capital management 

The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to sustain future development of the 

business.  The Board of Management actively monitor the financial performance of the Company to 

ensure adequate financial returns are generated. The Board of Management also monitors the level of 

dividends to ordinary shareholders. 

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher 

levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.   

The Company’s debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 

 

  2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

    

Total liabilities  4,216,560 3,647,510 

Less: cash and cash equivalents  (70,886) (46,127) 

Net debt  4,145,674 3,601,383 

    

Total equity  906,428 803,278 

Less: amounts accumulated in equity relating to 

cash flow hedges  

 (25) (137) 

Adjusted capital  906,403 803,141 

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio   4.57 4.48 

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. 

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
  

2016 

 

2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Current     

Liability for annual leave  5,689 5,411 

Liability for long service leave  10,103 9,765 

Cash settled share-based payment liability  1,032 1,620 

    

  16,824 16,796 

    

Non current    

Liability for long service leave  1,303 1,305 

Cash settled share-based payment liability  395 1,388 

  1,698 2,693 

 

Share based payments 

 Performance Phantom Share Plan  

In 2006 Daimler AG adopted the “2005-2007 Performance Phantom Share Plan” under which virtual 

shares (phantom shares) are granted to eligible employees entitling them to receive cash payment after 

four years of service. The amount of cash paid to eligible employees is based on the number of phantom 

shares that vest (determined over a three year performance period) times the quoted price of Ordinary 

Shares of Daimler AG (determined as an average price over a specified period at the end of the four-year 

service). The number of phantom shares that vest will depend on the achievement of Daimler AG 

performance goals as compared with competitive and internal benchmarks (return on net assets and 

return on sales). Daimler AG will no longer issue any common shares in connection with the Performance 

Phantom Share Plan.   

In 2016 no compensation expenses relating to the Performance Phantom Share Plan as cash settled 

payments were recognised by the Company (2015: $2,126,085) (refer Note 6). As at 31 December 2016, 

the carrying amount of the liability recognised for the entitlements granted is $1,426,802 (2015: 

$3,074,207). 

The number of phantom shares on-issue by Daimler AG to key management personnel of the Company as 

at 31 December 2016 was 24,192 (2015: 24,443). 

21. PROVISIONS 
 

 

 Warranty 

Vehicle 

Marketing Legal 

Onerous 

contracts Other Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

       

Balance at 1 January 2016 155,172 41,957 1,010 - 22,583 220,722 

Provisions made during the year 95,307 349,806 1,386 667 60,147 507,313 

Provisions used during the year (99,301) (338,698) (1,887) - (43,190) (483,076) 

Provisions reversed in the year (29,822) - - - - (29,822) 

Net unwind of discount (2,014) - - - - (2,014) 

Balance at 31 December 2016 119,342 53,065 509 667 39,540 213,123 

       

Current   68,134  53,065 509 667 24,248 146,623 

Non-current 51,208 - - - 15,292 66,500 

 119,342 53,065 509 667 39,540 213,123 
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21.  PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 

Warranties 

The provision for warranties relates primarily to vehicles sold during the five years to 31 December 2016.  

The provision is based on estimates made from historical warranty data associated with similar products 

and services.  The Company expects to pay out the liability over the next five years.  During the year, 

$95.307 million was recognised as an expense in cost of sales (2015: $93.537 million) (refer to Note 7). 

During 2016, management amended the warranty provision calculation to determine a more accurate and 

detailed prediction of future obligations. This resulted in a reversal of the provision of $29.822million. 

Vehicle marketing  

The provision for vehicle marketing relates to performance bonuses payable to dealers, and is dependent 

upon the number of vehicles sold during the year.  Bonuses are paid annually based on sales for the year 

ended on the reporting date.  During the year, $349.806 million was recognised as rebates against 

revenue (2015: $378.500 million). 

Legal 

The legal provision as at 31 December 2016 relates to legal actions in relation to product liability and 

other contractual matters in the ordinary course of business. 

Onerous contracts 

The provision for onerous contracts relates to contracts entered into where the expected benefits to be 

derived by the Company from these contracts are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its 

obligations. During the year there were expenses of $667,000 recognised in profit or loss (2015: Nil). 

Other provisions 

Other provisions as at 31 December 2016 relate primarily to provisions for maintenance and repair and 

are dependent on the number of vehicles covered by maintenance and repair contracts. 

 

22. DEFERRED INCOME 
  

2016 

 

2015 

 Note $’000 $’000 

Current    

Deferred income attributable to other  

related entities 31c 7,569 6,699 

Other deferred income  21,474 15,977 

  29,043 22,676 

Non-current    

Deferred income attributable to other  

related entities 31c 2,825 4,668 

Other deferred income  22,335 17,483 

  25,160 22,151 

 

Rental income from operating leases through a related party, Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Australia 

Pty Ltd, is recognised as deferred income attributable to other related parties and amortised on a straight 

line basis over the term of the lease.   

Other deferred income consists of: 

 progress billings received from a customer under an open supply contract; and 

 advance payments received for fixed term service contracts.
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23. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Share capital   

 
 

2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Issued and paid-up share capital    

35,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares of $2 par 

value each (2015: 35,000,000 ordinary shares of 

$2 par value each) 

  

70,000 

 

70,000 

    

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled 

to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings.   

In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after creditors and are fully entitled 

to any proceeds of liquidation. 

Hedging reserve 

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash 

flow hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred. 

Dividends 

As the Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary in a tax-consolidated group, the franking credits reside with 

the head entity in the tax-consolidated group in accordance with the tax funding and sharing agreements.  

Hence, the dividends recognised are franked.  

No dividends were declared or paid in the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil). 

     

24. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(a)   Reconciliation of cash 

 For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank 

and short term deposits at call, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end of the 

financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in 

the statement of financial position as follows:  
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24.  NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 

(a)   Reconciliation of cash (continued) 

  

 

2016 

 

2015 

 

 Note $’000 $’000 

    

Cash and cash equivalents 11 70,886 46,127 

 (b)  Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

    

Profit for the year  103,038 216,964 

    

Adjustments for:     

(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  43 (2,162) 

(Gain)/loss on sale of investments 5 (750) (108,581) 

Depreciation expenses 14 19,811 12,381 

Impairment losses 13 7,361 9,374 

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses 9 266 8,331 

Net (gain)/loss on foreign currency derivatives not 

qualifying as hedges 9 4,953 (6,203) 

Income tax expense  10 46,831 92,036 

Operating profit before changes in working capital  181,553 222,140 

    

 Change in assets & liabilities during the financial year:    

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (24,531) 39,569 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (62,060) 1,532 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables   58,699 (41,734) 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (8,567) 19,401 

Net cash from operating activities  145,095 240,908 

Net interest paid  (12,552) 13,665 

Income taxes received / (paid)  (79,022) (57,697) 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  53,521 196,876 
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company comprises the following main business segments: 

 Wholesale: The importation, marketing and distribution of passenger and commercial 

motor vehicles and their components. 

 Retail: Sale and servicing of passenger and commercial motor vehicles through 

dealerships. 

 Financing: The Company is also involved in financing activities for its working capital 

and capital expenditure requirements and on behalf of some other related 

parties of the local Daimler group. 

The principal activities of the Company are based predominantly in Australia. 

Segment information is presented in respect of the Company’s business segments which are 

based on the Company’s management and internal reporting structure.   

Intersegment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. 

 

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 

those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets 

that are expected to be used for more than one period. 
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25.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 Wholesale Retail Financing Eliminations Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2016      

External revenue and other income    3,110,537 540,687   - - 3,651,224 

Inter-segment revenue 372,267 - - (372,267)  -    

Total inter-segment revenue 3,482,804  540,687  -    (372,267)  3,651,224 

Finance income - - 106,838 - 106,838 

Finance expense - - (109,792) - (109,792) 

      

Depreciation (19,036) (775) - - (19,811) 

      

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 

before tax 

140,016 12,807 (2,954) - 149,869 

      

Reportable segment assets 1,111,983 107,058 3,903,947 - 5,122,988 

Reportable segment liabilities 812,985 98,251 3,305,324 - 4,216,560 

      

Capital expenditure  (8,748) (4,080) - -  (12,828) 

      

Impairment losses (5,479) (1,882) - - (7,361) 
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25.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
 Wholesale Retail Financing Eliminations Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2015      

External revenue and other income    2,524,709 843,718   - - 3,368,427 

Inter-segment revenue 578,816 - - (578,816)  -    

Total inter-segment revenue 3,103,525   843,718  -    (578,816)  3,368,427 

Finance income - - 119,539 - 119,539 

Finance expense - - (116,547) - (116,547) 

      

Depreciation (10,995) (1,386) - - (12,381) 

      

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 

before tax 

304,975 1,033 2,992 - 309,000 

      

Reportable segment assets 1,001,126 137,860 3,311,802 - 4,450,788 

Reportable segment liabilities 742,147 116,245 2,789,118 - 3,647,510 

      

Capital expenditure  (1,861) (2,128) - -  (3,989) 

      

Impairment losses (6,134) (3,240) - - (9,374) 
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26. OPERATING LEASES 

Leases as lessee 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

  2016 2015 

 $’000 $’000 

    

Not later than one year  8,110 5,618 

Later than one year or not later than five years  17,149 7,548 

Later than five years  3,027 - 

  28,286 13,166 

The Company leases a number of sites that include land and building for the purposes of operating 

dealerships and service departments.  The leases typically run for a period of five years, with an option to 

renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are increased every three years to reflect market rentals. 

None of the leases include contingent rentals. 

Leases of property generally provide the Company with the right of renewal at which time all terms are 

renegotiated. Lease payments comprise a base amount plus an incremental contingent rental. Contingent 

rentals are based on the Consumer Price Index. 

During the year ended 31 December 2016 $9.196 million was recognised as an expense in profit or loss 

in respect of operating leases (2015: $10.534 million) (refer Note 7). 

Residual value guarantees for operating leases 

The Company agreed to provide residual value guarantees for operating leases entered into between a 

related party, Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Australia Pty Ltd, and their external customers for 

passenger vehicles, light commercial vehicles and heavy commercial vehicles.  These operating leases 

have an average term of three years.   

Vehicles subject to operating leases where the Company has provided a residual value guarantee are 

accounted for by the Company as plant and equipment and depreciated over a straight-line basis.  

Depreciation of approximately $15.440 million (2015: $7.313 million) was recorded for the year with 

respect to these leased assets.  

Current and non-current liabilities for residual value guarantees have also been recorded by the Company 

consistent with the provision of the guarantees at the end of the lease terms.   

Deferred income, representing the excess of the amount financed over the amount guaranteed, is also 

recorded by the Company and amortised over a straight line basis over the term of the leases.  During the 

year the Company recorded approximately $5.564 million (2015: $5.071 million) of income attributable to 

operating leases subject to a residual value guarantee.   

The liabilities for residual value guarantee have been included in Payables to other related parties in Note 

16.  Deferred income arising on these operating leases is included in deferred income attributable to 

other related entities in Note 22. 
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27. CONTINGENCIES 

 

(a) The Company has arranged for its bankers to guarantee its performance to third parties.  The used 

portion of the guarantee is $83,496,584 (2015: $82,422,333) and the maximum amount of the 

guarantee available is $86,012,500 (2015: $83,568,000).  The Company has also arranged for its 

ultimate parent entity to guarantee its performance to certain customers to a maximum of 

$89,641,852 (2015: $89,641,852).  This facility is fully available and not used at the reporting date 

(2015: nil).  

(b) The Company is involved in a number of legal actions relating to product liability and other 

contractual matters in the ordinary course of business.  These are being contested and where 

it is probable that a liability will arise, a provision has been made in these accounts for 

estimated legal costs and settlements of potential claims. Please refer to Note 21. 

(c) The Company is a member of a tax-consolidated group (‘the Group’) and is jointly and 

severally liable for the income tax of that group in the event that the head entity defaults in its 

payment obligations to the Australian Tax Office.  The head entity has not been in default of 

its payment obligations and the directors are of the opinion that the probability of default is 

remote.  

(d) Pursuant to the ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 dated 

28 September 2016, relief has been granted to Mercedes-Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd from 

the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and publication of financial 

statements. The Company has prepared financial statements as required by the Franchising 

Code of Conduct, which obliges this upon the Company as a Franchisor. Furthermore, the 

Company also has other reporting obligations to lodge financial statements with the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange in respect of the EMTN program.  

28. PARENT ENTITY 

The ultimate parent entity of the Company is Daimler AG, a company incorporated in the Federal Republic 

of Germany. The immediate parent entity of the Company is Daimler Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd, a company 

incorporated in Australia. 

29. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 

The Company is economically dependent on the ultimate parent entity for the supply of passenger and 

commercial vehicle stock for resale. 
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30. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

The names of each person holding the position of director of the Company during the financial year 

are Dr B. Niess (Resigned 30 September 2016), Mr R. Howard (Resigned 30 September 2016), Mr 

H. von Sanden, Mr R. Schrage, Mr T.H. Conrad (Resigned 30 September 2016), Ms D. Tarr  and Mr 

D. Whitehead. Apart from the Company’s Directors, the Company’s key management personnel 

during the year include Mr P. Grogan and Mr B. Lee.  

In addition to their salaries, the Company provides non-cash benefits to key management 

personnel, share-based payment benefits. The key management personnel compensation included 

in employee expenses (refer Note 6) are as follows: 

 2016 2015 

 $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 2,753,559   2,547,869  

Other long term benefits  34,465   29,082  

Post-employment benefits  -   278,999  

Share based payments  -   364,097  

Termination benefits  273,807   321,873  

 3,061,831 3,541,920 

31. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company transacts with its ultimate parent entity, its immediate parent entity and other 

related parties as disclosed below.  All of the transactions are in the normal course of business 

and on normal terms and conditions.   

(a) Transactions with ultimate parent entity 

The aggregate amount due and receivable from and payable to the ultimate parent entity by the 

Company at reporting date: 

      Note 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Current assets    

Trade and other receivables 12 11,499 25,068 

Total current assets  11,499 25,068 

    

Non-current assets    

Trade and other receivables 12 2,406 15,652 

Total non-current assets  2,406 15,652 

Total assets  13,905 40,720 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 411,814 333,182 

Loans and borrowings 17 50,386 - 

Total current liabilities  462,200 333,182 

Total liabilities  462,200 333,182 

 

Net interest income/(expense)   (5,018) (8,712)  

Warranty recoveries  5,308 34,479  
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31.  OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

(a) Transactions with ultimate parent entity (continued) 

The Company also acquires inventory from the ultimate parent entity. The cost of inventory sold 

during the year that was purchased from the ultimate parent entity totalled $2,354 million (2015: 

$1,824 million). 

The ultimate parent entity undertakes borrowings from external parties and on-lends the proceeds 

to the Company.  Interest is charged to the Company at rates consistent with bank rates in the 

countries of the currencies transacted. 

The ultimate parent entity also acquires derivatives from external parties on behalf of the 

Company to hedge interest and currency risk of certain loans and borrowings.  The derivatives 

passed through to the Company are on the same terms and conditions as the external derivatives 

acquired by the ultimate parent entity. 

The ultimate parent entity provides guarantees on Euro Medium-Term Notes issued by Mercedes-

Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd.  The face value of these guarantees as at 31 December 2016 was 

$1.275 million (2015: $1,598 million). 

The ultimate parent entity also provides guarantees on Commercial Papers issued by Mercedes-

Benz Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd.  The face value of these guarantees as at 31 December 2016 was 

$256 million (2015: $270 million).  

(b) Transactions with immediate parent entity  

The aggregate amount due and receivable from and payable to the immediate parent entity by the 

Company at reporting date: 

      Note 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Current assets    

Trade and other receivables 12 22,500 439 

Total current assets  22,500 439 

Total assets  22,500 439 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 - 25,158 

Total current liabilities  - 25,158 

Total liabilities  - 25,158 

    

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary in a tax-consolidated group with its immediate parent 

entity, Daimler Australia/Pacific Pty Ltd, as the head entity.  The Company, in conjunction with 

other members of the tax-consolidated group, has entered into a tax funding agreement that sets 

out the funding obligations of members of the tax-consolidated group in respect of tax amounts.  

The Company, in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated group, has also entered 

into a tax funding and sharing agreement. 

At 31 December 2016 the Company had an intercompany receivable of $22.5 million (2015: 

$0.439 million) relating to current tax receivable assumed by the head entity of the tax 

consolidated group. The company has no intercompany payable at 31 December 2016 relating to a 

tax instalment received from a related entity (2015:  $25.158 million payable). 

For further details regarding tax consolidation and the nature of the tax funding and sharing 

agreements, refer to accounting policy Note 3(m) and Note 15. 
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31.  OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

(c) Transactions with other related parties 

The aggregate amount due and receivable from and payable to other related parties by the 

Company at reporting date: 

      Note 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Current assets    

Trade and other receivables  2,288,471 2,101,559 

Total current assets  2,288,471 2,101,559 

    

Non-current assets    

Trade and other receivables 12 1,567,832 1,174,319 

Total non-current assets  1,567,832 1,174,319 

Total assets  3,856,303 3,275,878 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 98,153 106,583 

Deferred income 22 7,569 6,699 

Total current liabilities  105,722 113,282 

    

Non-current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 6,599 11,942 

Deferred income 22 2,825 4,668 

Total non-current liabilities  9,424 16,610 

Total liabilities  115,146 129,892 

 

Net interest income  97,389 99,278 

Revenue received for sale of goods and services  5,838 3,476 

Rental income received  5 6,661 5,082 

Other income 5 5,780 4,548 

Net gain/(loss) from interest rate hedging  56 1,422 

Depreciation on leased assets with related parties 26 (15,440) (7,313)  

Warranty recoveries  2,581 6,932 

The Company also acquires inventory from other related parties. The cost of inventory sold during 

the year that was purchased from other related entities totalled $363.0 million (2015: $370.8 

million). 

The Company undertakes borrowings from external parties and on-lends the proceeds to other 

related parties.  Interest is charged to the related parties at rates consistent with bank rates in the 

countries of the currencies transacted. 

The Company has agreed to provide residual value guarantees for operating leases entered into 

between Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Australia Pty Ltd and their external customers.  Rental 

income from these leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.  Lease 

income prepaid by Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Australia Pty Ltd is classified as a financial 

liability, in deferred income and liabilities for residual value guarantees is recognised in trade and 

other payables. 
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32.  EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
Subsequent to 31 December 2016, the Company initiated the process of divesting its retail operation 
Mercedes-Benz Melbourne.  No sales agreement is currently in place and therefore, the Company cannot 
reasonably estimate the financial effect, however the sale is likely to have a significant effect on the entity’s 
financial performance in 2017. 

On 3 March 2017, the ultimate parent entity Daimler AG (DAG) announced a recall of passenger car 
models affecting C-Class, E-Class, CLA, GLA and GLC vehicles produced between 2015 and 2017 for the 
US market. The recall was a result of instances of engine fires and is expected to affect 1 million vehicles. 
The Company has not commenced a recall in the Australian market at the date of signing the annual 
financial report.  

 


